AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE INTERNATIONAL F.O.P. ASSOCIATION INC.

ARTICLE 1

NAME

The name of the Association is International F.O.P. Association Inc., DBA the International FOP Association (the "Association"). The Association shall have the status of a corporation which is exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (hereinafter referred to as the "Code"), as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

ARTICLE 2

OFFICES

Section 2.1 Corporate Office. The corporation, by resolution of its Board of Directors, may establish and/or change the location of its registered office as designated from time to time to any place within or without the State of Florida. The Association may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Florida, as the Board of Directors may designate or as the affairs of the Association may require from time to time.

<u>Section 2.2 Registered Office</u>. The registered office of the Association required to be maintained in the State of Florida by the Florida Not For Profit Corporation Act, as amended from time to time (hereinafter referred to as the "Act") may, but need not, be identical with the principal office in the State of Florida; and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 3

PURPOSE, USE, AND ADMINISTRATION OF FUNDS

Section 3.1 Purpose. The Corporation shall be a non-stock, nonprofit Corporation which shall engage in any lawful act or activity for which nonprofit organizations may be organized under the State of Florida Not For Profit Corporation Act. The Association is organized exclusively for charitable and educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code (hereinafter referred to as "Charitable Purposes"), including the receipt and acceptance of property, whether real, personal or mixed, by gift or bequest from any person or entity; the retention, administration, investment and distribution of such property in accordance with these By-Laws. The specific purposes and objectives of the Association shall include but not be limited to the following:

- 3.1.1 To promote and fund research into Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva ("FOP");
- To develop and disseminate information to educate the public concerning FOP;

- 3.1.3 To develop a support network for families affected by FOP;
- To publish a newsletter and website for families and others dealing with the challenges of FOP, as well as other interested persons;
- 3.1.5 To solicit and receive gifts, bequests, donations, contributions, and conveyances of real estate, stocks, securities, commodities, monies and any and all real and personal property, the net income and principal of which shall be used exclusively in furtherance of the charitable and educational purposes set forth in the preceding paragraphs.
- 3.1.6 To engage in other charitable and educational activities not inconsistent with those specific purposes stated herein as the Board of Directors determines from time to time.

Section 3.2 Use of Funds. In making distributions to effectuate the Charitable Purposes of the Association, as delineated in Section 3.1 above, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to make distributions of both income and principal in such proportions and amounts as the Board of Directors, in its discretion, determines advisable, provided that all such distributions are for Charitable Purposes and are consistent with all applicable federal tax laws and regulations, as herein provided. The primary consideration of the Board of Directors shall be income distributions, but the Board of Directors shall also be authorized to make distributions of principal from time to time as the Board of Directors, in its discretion, shall determine. The Association is not formed for financial or pecuniary gain; and no part of the assets, income, or profits of the Association shall be distributable to, or inure to, the benefit of its directors or officers or any other private person, except for reasonable compensation for actual services rendered as provided in Section 5.10, Section 6.11 and Article 12 as reimbursement for expenses and payment of reasonable stipends of officers for actual and extraordinary services rendered, and except to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the charitable and educational purposes of the Association, as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws. No substantial part of the activities of the Association shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; and no part of the activities of the Association shall be the participation in, or intervention in (including the publishing or distributing of statements), any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public office.

ARTICLE 4 MEMBERS

<u>Section 4.1 Eligibility for Membership</u>. Membership is open to anyone with an interest in the Association and its purposes and who is accepted by the Corporation into the membership.

Section 4.2 Manner of Application and Approval. A person who is eligible for membership shall be an individual member and have the benefits, privileges, and obligations provided in the By-laws and Policies of the Association. All persons eligible for membership shall make application to the Association in such manner and on such forms as shall be prescribed by the Executive Committee and shall become a member upon approval of the Corporation.

<u>Section 4.3 Term; Other Conditions</u>. Membership in the Association will be for such term and subject to such conditions, including voting rights, as established by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 4.4 Annual Membership Meeting. The Association shall hold an annual meeting of its membership by mail in the Fall of each year, or at such other time and date as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. The purpose of the annual meeting shall be to elect directors. For voting purposes, a simple majority of votes submitted shall constitute a decision by the full membership.

<u>Section 4.5 Termination of membership</u>. Membership may be terminated at any time, with cause, by affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Board of Directors, after providing notice and the opportunity of being heard to the member in whatever manner is prescribed fairly, reasonably, and in good faith by the Corporation.

ARTICLE 5 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

<u>Section 5.1 General Powers.</u> The business and affairs of the Association shall be supervised by its Board of Directors, which shall exercise in the name of and on behalf of the Association all of the rights and privileges legally exercisable by the Association as a corporate entity, except as may otherwise be provided by law, or these Bylaws. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for overall policy and direction of the Association.

Section 5.2 Number, Tenure, and Qualifications.

There shall be a minimum of nine (9) and a maximum of fifteen (15) members of the Board of Directors of the Association, who shall be nominated by the Board of Directors and elected by the Membership by vote in the Fall of each year for terms commencing January 1 of the succeeding year. The corporation's Executive Director shall serve as an ex officio, non-voting member of the Board of Directors. The amount and type of work to be done should drive the number of board member nominees that the Board Development and Nominating Committees is asked to provide. The number of directors may be changed by vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors. No decrease in member number may shorten the term of any incumbent director(s); therefore, the decrease shall be implemented at regular election time. Each elected director shall serve in such capacity for a maximum of two (2) consecutive three (3) year terms, whereafter a period of one (1) year shall pass before such person is re-eligible to serve again in such capacity. Terms should be staggered so that an approximately equal number of new or reelected board members is needed in each year. In accordance with the method of electing new board members to fill a vacancy in Section 5.9 herein, any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled by the Board of Directors for a term of office continuing only until the next election of directors. Each director shall hold office until his or her term shall have expired and his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier resignation, removal from office, or death. Jeannie Peeper, the Founder of the International F.O.P. Association, during her lifetime, or until such time as she is no longer willing or able to serve, shall fill one of the positions on the Board of Directors if she so desires. Only one member of any household can be a voting member of the Board of Directors at a time. Consistent with the original goal of the Association of bringing together persons with FOP, the

Board of Directors shall, if at all possible, include at least two persons with FOP, even if in an advisory capacity.

Section 5.3 Annual Meeting. The Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held within or without the State of Florida, in whatever manner is decided by the Chairperson of the Board, in December of each year, or at such other time and date as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. This meeting may be held by means of voice or video conference or similar mode of communication at which all Directors may participate and be heard. The purpose of the annual meeting shall be to ratify the election of the members of the Board of Directors, elect officers and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

Section 5.4 In-Person Board of Directors Meeting and other Special Meetings. In order to facilitate the smooth functioning of the dispersed Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall hold at least one in-person Board of Directors meeting each year at a time, date and location to be decided by the Board of Directors. The purpose of these in-person Board of Directors meetings is to review the overall status of the Association, hear reports from committee chairpersons and relevant staff and consultants (e.g. Executive Director, scientific advisors, etc), design plans for the future, and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting. Other special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairperson of the Board, or at the request of the Secretary or any two (2) Directors. The Chairperson shall fix the time and place of any such special meeting, which may be held by means of voice or video conference or similar mode of communication where all members participating can hear one another or read the comments of each person attending.

<u>Section 5.5 Notices</u>. Notice of any special meeting shall be given at least five (5) business days prior thereto. The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened. The business to be transacted at, or the purpose of, any special meeting of the Board of Directors must be specified in the notice of such meeting.

<u>Section 5.6 Quorum</u>. A majority of the total number of directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.7 Participation in Meeting. Each director, other than an advisory member, shall be entitled to one (1) vote upon any matter properly submitted for a vote to the Board of Directors. The affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, except as may otherwise be specifically provided by law, or by these Bylaws. Members of the Board of Directors absent from any meeting shall be permitted to vote at such meeting by written proxies in such manner and on such forms as shall be prescribed by the Executive Committee. The members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, or of such committee, by means of voice or video conference or similar mode of communication where all members participating in the meeting can hear one another or read the comments of each person attending; and the participation in a meeting pursuant to this provision shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. The Directors shall be promptly furnished a copy of the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 5.8 Action Without a Meeting</u>. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting by the Board of Directors, or by any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting

by electronic means, such as email, which memorialize and record the voting and action taken by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall determine appropriate means for such electronic votes.

Section 5.9 Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including vacancies created by the removal of directors without cause or for cause, may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office, or, if there is no predecessor, until the next election of directors. If a vacancy is not filled within ninety (90) days of the event which resulted in there being fewer directors than the minimum required by the Bylaws, any director may apply to a court having equity jurisdiction in the county in which the Association has its principal office to have such court appoint a sufficient number of directors so that the Association will have the minimum number of directors required by its Bylaws. Any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled by election by the Board of Directors for a term of office continuing only until the next election of directors (as per Section 5.2).

Section 5.10 Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses. Each director shall serve in such capacity without compensation for services rendered to the Association. However, each director may be paid his or her reasonable expenses incurred by the director directly related to the affairs of the Association and/or service as a director, including attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors, upon prior approval by the Board of Directors and proper substantiation of such expenses.

Section 5.11 No Presumption of Assent. A director of the Association who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors at which action on any Association matter is taken, but who does not comment or otherwise participate in a timely manner as set forth by the relevant Policies & Procedures of the Association, shall not be presumed to have agreed with the action so taken. Directors are encouraged to exchange ideas and observations before voting, but if a Director submits a vote without comment, it is still an acceptable vote.

Section 5.12 Removal. Any or all of the directors may be removed for cause or without cause by vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the total number of the voting directors. Removal of a director shall constitute removal as an officer of the Association and as a member of all committees of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.13 Resignation. A director may resign his or her membership at any time by tendering his or her resignation in writing to the Chairperson or, in the case of the resignation of the Chairperson, to the Secretary. A resignation shall become effective upon the date specified in such notice or, if no date is specified, upon receipt of the resignation by the Association at its principal place of business.

ARTICLE 6 OFFICERS

<u>Section 6.1 Number</u>. There shall be a President, Chairperson of the Board, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary, and Treasurer of the Association, each of whom shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of this Article. No one individual may hold more than one office on a permanent basis, although an individual may do so temporarily (except the offices of

Chairperson and Secretary together) while the Board takes the actions necessary to properly fill said officer positions.

<u>Section 6.2.1 Nomination</u>. At least two (2) months before the Board of Directors annual meeting, it will be the responsibility of the Board Development and Nominating Committee to solicit nominations, including self-nominations, from the Board of Directors and Association members and present a recommended slate of candidates for the Association's officer positions that will be vacated that year: President, Chairperson of the Board, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary, and Treasurer. Nominees for Chairperson of the Board shall be current members of the Board of Directors.

<u>6.2.2 Election.</u> The officers of the Association shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting following the ratification of the election of members of the Board of Directors. If the election of the officers shall not be held at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as may be convenient.

Each officer shall hold office for a term of two (2) years commencing January 1 of the succeeding year, or until his or her earlier death, resignation, or removal from office in the manner hereinafter provided. If a Board member is elected to an office, the term for which extends beyond his/her term as a Board member, that member's Board term is extended to match the term of office to which he/she was elected, excepting that if the officer position being filled is that of Chairperson, the Board member must be re-elected to the Board of Directors for a new two-year term prior to standing for election as Chairperson. If the terms of office of the Chairperson and two or more officers can be foreseen to expire at the same time, the Board of Directors may at its option reduce or extend the term of office of the Chairperson and any incumbent officer or officers by one year. A retiring officer may succeed himself or herself in his or her office.

6.2.3 Election Procedures. For the election of Officers, the offices will be considered in the order listed in 6.2.1. Each Board member shall have one vote for each position. If there is only one candidate for the office, the vote shall be yay or nay with a majority of those voting needing to be positive for election. A new call for candidates is made and the voting process restarts in the case where there is a single candidate, but that candidate does not receive enough affirmative votes. If there is more than one candidate for a position, then each board member may vote for one of the candidates or may abstain. A majority of those voting is required for election (an abstention is not a vote). If there are more than two candidates and none achieves a majority, then the candidate with the lowest number of votes is dropped before repeating the ballot. In the event of a tie that prevents selection, the vote shall be retaken until the tie is broken. If a tie persists after the third vote or upon the request of the majority of the board voting, a coin toss will determine which candidate is to remain eligible. Voting will be by secret ballot if any board member so requests; otherwise the vote will be by show of hands.

Section 6.3 President. Jeannie Peeper, the Founder of the International F.O.P. Association, shall be its President during her lifetime, or until such time as she is no longer willing or able to serve. The President will perform ceremonial functions and act as spokesperson for the organization, if she sees fit to do so. When the time comes that Jeannie Peeper is no longer serving as President, the Board will then assess the needs of the organization and make whatever changes are required to maximize the continuing functioning of the Association which

may include choosing another President to act as spokesperson and role model. In keeping with the original goal of the Association of bringing together persons with FOP, such a spokesperson and role model should be a person with FOP, unless circumstances require otherwise.

Section 6.4 Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson of the Board shall be the principal executive officer of the Association, providing direction and oversight, and working closely with the Executive Committee, the Board of Directors, Executive Director, and President to create and implement the goals and action plans of the Association. He or she shall have the power to call special meetings and to constitute special committees and make appointments to standing committees. He or she shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee, and shall, in general, perform all of the duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall abstain from votes of the Board unless the vote otherwise would be a tie, in which case the Chairperson may either vote or abstain. The Chairperson may sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer thereunto authorized by the Board of Directors, deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors of these Bylaws to some other office or agent of the Association, or shall be otherwise required by law to he signed executed.

Section 6.5 Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall be prepared to step into the Chairperson position if and when it becomes necessary, exercising the functions of the Chairperson during the absence or disability of the Chairperson, or in the event of his or her death, inability, or refusal to act. Pending election, if necessary, of a successor in accordance with the method of electing board members to fill a vacancy in Section 6.9 below, the Vice-Chairperson shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall assist the Chairperson as requested, and perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 6.6 Secretary</u>. The Secretary shall be responsible for keeping records of Board actions, including overseeing the taking of minutes at all Board of Directors and Executive Committee meetings, and perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 6.7 Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall have charge of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Association, for the following: advising the Chairperson and the Board of Directors on all financial matters; serving as Chair of the Finance Committee, and for such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.8 Removal. Any member of the Board of Directors removed from office pursuant to Section 5.13 shall be automatically removed as an officer. The Board of Directors may by a two-thirds (2/3) vote remove any officer when, in its judgment, the best interests of the Association will be served thereby.

Section 6.9 Vacancies. A vacancy in any office, because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or otherwise, may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term. In accordance with Section 6.2, the term of a board member appointed to fill a vacancy shall be extended to enable the board member to serve for the unexpired portion of the term of office vacated, excepting that if the vacancy being filled

is that of Chairperson, the appointee must be re-elected to the Board of Directors for a new twoyear term at the next annual meeting of the membership before standing for election for a full two-year term as Chairperson.

<u>Section 6.10 Resignation</u>. An officer may resign his or her office at any time by tendering his or her resignation in writing to the Chairperson or, in the case of the resignation of the Chairperson, to the Secretary. A resignation shall become effective upon the date specified in such notice, or, if no date is specified, upon receipt of the resignation by the Association at its principal place of business.

Section 6.11 Salaries and Expenses. As a volunteer organization, the officers of the Association shall serve without compensation. However, the Board of Directors may, by specific resolution, authorize the payment of a reasonable stipend on a quarterly or monthly basis and pursuant to such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors shall establish for extraordinary services rendered on behalf of the Association by an officer. The Board of Directors shall establish guidelines for the payment of said stipend, which shall be reviewed from time to time as circumstances warrant. Reasonable expenses incurred by all of the officers in the course of coordinating the affairs of the Association shall be reimbursed by the Association upon proper substantiation.

ARTICLE 7

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Section 7.1 General Information: An Executive Director of the Association shall be hired by the Chairperson of the Board in such manner as shall be prescribed by the Executive Committee, with the final selection being approved by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director will be the Chief Operating Officer of the Association and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, Executive Committee, and/or by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall be an employee of the Association, and the Chairperson of the Board may terminate the employment of the Executive Director, with the approval of the Board of Directors.

Section 7.2 Responsibilities: The Executive Director is responsible for working closely with the Chairperson and the Executive Committee, and for the following: setting the overall agenda for fundraising and diversifying and broadening the Association's revenue stream; building and maintaining relationships between the Association and other entities such as donors, researchers and pharmaceutical companies and acting as a spokesperson for the Association; overseeing communications between the Association and patients and families; overseeing daily operations; hiring and managing all staff and contractors, unless designated to another staff person; working with the Finance Committee and the Board Chairperson to prepare the annual budget for approval by the Board of Directors; managing the annual budget; working with the Board of Directors to create and implement strategic plans; helping develop the Board of Directors; supporting research and drug development projects; fostering international efforts; providing relevant input to the Chairperson and Executive Committee for meetings; participating without a vote in Executive Committee and Board of Directors meetings; ensuring all program, funding and financial reports are prepared and submitted in a timely and accurate manner, including compliance with all federal regulations and reporting requirements; and completing

such other duties as may from time to time be assigned him or her by the Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, Executive Committee or Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 8

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHER COMMITTEES

Section 8.1 Executive Committee. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of its voting members, shall designate the Chairperson, and two (2) or more of its other members to constitute an Executive Committee. Only one member of a family, extended or otherwise, may serve on the Executive Committee at a given time. A Member-at-Large may be appointed by the Board of Directors at the discretion of the Board of Directors to serve as a member of the Executive Committee for one year to assist in advancing the goals and objectives of the Executive Committee and the Association. In no event shall the Executive Committee constitute a majority of the full Board of Directors. If for any reason or cause the Executive Committee becomes a majority of the Board of Directors, where an immediate increase in Board members to achieve Board majority is not reasonably foreseen, the Chairperson shall cause one or more members of the Executive Committee to resign such that the Executive Committee no longer constitutes a majority of the Board of Directors. The decision of which Executive Committee member or members is/are to resign shall be at the discretion of the Chairperson. The Executive Director shall participate in the Executive Committee meetings, but as an ex officio, non-voting member. Each member of the Executive Committee shall hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board of Directors following his or her designation and until his or her successor has been appointed and qualified. The designation of the Executive Committee and the delegation of authority thereto shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed by law. The Executive Committee, when the Board of Directors is not in session, shall have and may exercise all the authority of the Board of Directors except to the extent, if any, that such authority shall be limited by the resolution appointing the Executive Committee, by law, or by these Bylaws. All action taken by the Executive Committee shall be subject to ratification by the Board of Directors.

However, the Executive Committee shall not have the authority of the Board of Directors with respect to filling any vacancy on the Board of Directors; amending or repealing the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its express terms is not so amendable or repealable; adopting a plan of merger or consolidation; selling, leasing, or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all the property and assets of the Association other than in the usual and regular course of its business; or voluntarily dissolving the Association or revoking a voluntary dissolution.

Section 8.2 Committees of the Board. All committees shall be under the control and serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors, shall have charge of such duties as may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws, shall maintain a permanent record of their actions and proceedings, and shall regularly submit a report of their actions to the Board, which shall ratify the actions of each committee. The Chairperson, or his or her designee, shall serve on each committee as an ex-officio member.

Section 8.3 General Provisions for Standing Committees. Unless otherwise provided herein and subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, the Chairperson of the Board shall appoint the chairpersons and the members of all standing committees, except the Board Development and Nominating Committee, at each annual meeting of the Board, or as soon as practicable thereafter. Board Development and Nominating Committee members shall be selected by the Executive Committee.

- 8.3.1 A member of a standing committee may resign at any time by giving written notice both to the Chairperson of the Board and the chairperson of the committee from which the member is resigning;
- 8.3.2 The Board of Directors may remove a member of a standing committee when, in its judgment, the best interests of the Association will be served by such removal;
- 8.3.3 The Chairperson shall fill all vacancies in standing committees, subject to the approval of the Board;
- 8.3.4 Meetings of standing committees may be called by their respective chairpersons or by the Chairperson. Each committee shall meet as often as is necessary to perform its functions;
- 8.3.5 Each standing committee may adopt rules for its own governance, provided such rules are not inconsistent with the law, or these Bylaws;
- A majority of the voting members of a committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any committee meeting. The act of a majority of the members of a standing committee present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee. Unless otherwise provided, a chair of a standing committee shall be entitled to vote on any question before the committee;
- 8.3.7 Each standing committee may invite additional individuals with expertise or familiarity in a pertinent area to meet with and assist the committee. Such individuals shall not vote or be counted in determining the existence of a quorum and may be excluded from any executive session of the committee.

<u>Section 8.4 Standing Committees</u>. The Board of Directors shall maintain the following standing committees, and such additional standing committees as it may determine from time to time to be necessary or desirable for its proper functioning:

(a) <u>Fund Development Committee</u>. With input from the Executive Committee, the Fund Development Committee shall work with the Executive Director to ensure the long term viability of the organization and assist the Executive Director in securing sufficient funding to ensure that operating expenses, existing programs, and new projects are adequately funded, as well as ensuring that the Corporation remains a public charity.

- (b) <u>Finance Committee</u>. The Finance Committee shall consist of 3 to 5 persons, including the Treasurer, who will be the Chair of this committee. The Finance Committee shall monitor the financial affairs of the Association (including the budget) and the performance of the investment managers and report to the Board of Directors quarterly, or more frequently, if needed. The Finance Committee shall develop for approval by the Board of Directors investment goals and criteria for use in the management of the Association's long and short-term investments. Unless otherwise specifically directed in the instrument by which any property is given, bequeathed, conveyed or otherwise transferred to the Association, whether as a fiduciary or otherwise, the Finance Committee shall cause the property so received, or the proceeds there from, to be invested in such investments as, after appropriate investigation and in the prudent exercise of its fiduciary responsibilities, it determines to be advisable and appropriate.
- (c) <u>Audit Committee.</u> The Audit Committee shall consist of 3 to 5 persons. The Audit Committee shall ensure that accounting policies and the internal control structure are regularly reviewed and appropriately implemented and that financial statements and reports are issued on time and according to regulatory obligations. Specifically, the Committee shall: 1) recommend an independent audit firm to the Board of Directors; 2) review the scope and plan for the independent audit and recommend any necessary changes; 3) review the previous year's management letter and ensure any issues were corrected by management; 4) review the results of the audit with the external auditor and resolve disagreements between the auditor and management; and approve non-audit services and ensure such services conform to standards in the Yellow Book issued by the U.S. Comptroller General.
- (d) Board Development and Nominating Committee. The Board Development and Nominating Committee shall be selected by the Executive Committee and shall consist of two members of the Board of Directors and two members from the general Association membership. The Board Development and Nominating Committee Chairperson shall be selected by the Executive Committee from among the current members of the Board of Directors. The Board Development and Nominating Committee shall recruit qualified individuals from among the membership of the Association and/or the contacts of said membership for nomination as members of the Board of Directors in the manner set forth by the Board. The Board Development and Nominating Committee shall solicit potential directors, investigate their experiences and talents, and develop in the most qualified of these potential nominees an interest in serving on the IFOPA Board of Directors. The development of talented potential board members is a continuing responsibility of the Board Development and Nominating Committee, in conjunction with the Board of Directors. Consistent with the original goal of the Association of bringing together persons with FOP, the Board Development and Nominating Committee shall, if at all possible, recruit persons with FOP as potential nominees to the Board of Directors to ensure that at least two persons with FOP are on the Board at all times, even if in an advisory capacity.
- (e) Research Committee. The Research Committee is comprised of one or more members of the Board of Directors and one or more volunteers from the FOP community, and the IFOPA's Director of Research Development & Partnerships, who collectively liaise with FOP researchers in academic, industry and other institutions worldwide to advance our understanding of FOP, develop therapeutic options, and educate FOP community members worldwide. The Committee supports clinical trial planning and FOP community education and enrollment as needed, FOP Registry development, and other research support activities as advised by the Director of Research Development & Partnerships and the Association's scientific and medical

advisors. The committee advises the Board of Directors on the suggested allocation of IFOPA funds to support research and the grant allocation process.

Section 8.5 Ad Hoc Committees. The Chairperson, with the approval of the Board as evidenced by resolution, may from time to time create such ad hoc committees as the Chairperson believes necessary or desirable to investigate matters or to advise the Board of Directors and staff. Ad hoc committees shall limit their activities to the accomplishment of the tasks for which created and shall have no power to act except as specifically conferred by resolution of the Board of Directors. Such committees shall operate until their tasks have been accomplished or until earlier discharged by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 9

CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, INVESTMENTS

Section 9.1 Contracts and Employment of Agents. The Board of Directors may authorize the Executive Director, any director, officer, or agent to enter into any contract, or execute and deliver any instrument, in the name of and on behalf of the Association. The Board of Directors shall be specifically authorized, in its sole discretion, to employ and to pay the compensation of such agents, accountants, custodians, experts, consultants and other counsel, legal, investment, or otherwise, as the Board of Directors shall deem advisable and reasonable, and to delegate discretionary powers to, and rely upon information furnished by, such individuals or entities. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

<u>Section 9.2 Loans</u>. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Association, and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name, unless authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 9.3 Checks, Drafts, etc. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences or indebtedness issued in the name of the Association shall be signed by the Executive Director or such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Association, and in such manner, as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 9.4 Deposits</u>. All funds of the Association not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Association with such banks, trust companies, brokerage accounts, investment managers, or other depositaries as the Board of Directors may from time to time select.

Section 9.5 Investment Authority. The Board of Directors shall be authorized to retain assets distributed to the Association, even though such assets may constitute an overconcentration in one or more similar investments. Further, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to make investments in unproductive property, or to hold unproductive property to the extent necessary until it can be converted into productive property at an appropriate time, provided the retention of such property is in the best interest of the Association and does not in any way jeopardize the tax-exempt status of the Association.

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Section 10.1 Standards of Conduct. A director or an officer of the Association shall discharge his or her duties as a director or as an officer, including duties as a member of a committee:

- 10.1.1 In good faith;
- 10.1.2 With the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and
- 10.1.3 In a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interest of the Association.

Section 10.2 Reliance on Third Parties. In discharging his or her duties, a director or officer is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial date, if prepared or presented by:

- One or more officers or employees of the Association whom the director or officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented;
- 10.2.2 Legal counsel, public accountants, or other persons as to matters the director or officer reasonably believes are within the person's professional or expert competence; or
- 10.2.3 With respect to a director, a committee of the Board of Directors of which the director is not a member, as to matters within its jurisdiction, if the director or officer reasonably believes the committee merits confidence.

Section 10.3 Bad Faith. A director or officer is not acting in good faith if he or she has knowledge concerning the matter in question that makes reliance otherwise permitted by Section 10.2 unwarranted.

Section 10.4 No Liability. A director or officer is not liable for any action taken, or any failure to take action, as a director or officer, if he or she performs the duties of his or her office in compliance with the provisions of this Article, or if he or she is immune from suit under the provisions of the Florida Not for Profit Corporation Act. No repeal or modification of the provisions of this Section 10.4 either directly or by the adoption of a provision inconsistent with the provisions of this Section, shall adversely affect any right or protection, as set forth herein, existing in favor of a particular individual at the time of such repeal or modification.

<u>Section 10.5 Prohibition on Loans</u>. No loans or guarantees shall be made by the Association to its directors or officers. Any director who assents to or participates in the making of any such loan shall be liable to the Association for the amount of such loan until the repayment thereof.

ARTICLE 11 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Section 11.1 General. A conflict of interest transaction is a transaction with the Association in which a director, officer or employee of the Association has a direct or indirect interest. A director, officer or employee of the Association has an indirect interest in a transaction if, but not only if, the director, officer or employee is a general partner, director, or officer of another entity in the transaction or has a familial or other intimate relationship with another person in the transaction. A conflict of interest transaction is not voidable or the basis for imposing liability on the director, officer or employee if the transaction was fair at the time it was entered into, or if the transaction is approved as provided in Section 11.2.

Section 11.2 Manner of Approval. A transaction in which a director or officer of the Association has a conflict of interest may be approved if the material facts of the transaction and the interest of the director or officer were disclosed or known to the Board of Directors, or to a committee consisting entirely of disinterested members of the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors or such committee authorized, approved, or ratified the transaction after full disclosure and after determination that the transaction is fair to the Corporation; or

Section 11.3 Quorum Requirements. For purposes of Section 11.2 a conflict of interest transaction is authorized, approved, or ratified if it receives the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors who have no direct or indirect interest in the transaction (disinterested members of the Board of Directors); but a transaction may not be authorized, approved, or ratified under this Article by a single director. A quorum is present for the purpose of taking action under this Article if a majority of the members of the Board of Directors who have no direct or indirect interest in the transaction vote to authorize, approve, or ratify the transaction. The presence of, or vote cast by, a director with a direct or indirect interest in the transaction does not affect the validity of any action taken under subsection 11.2 if the transaction is otherwise approved as provided in Section 11.2.

ARTICLE 12

INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES

Section 12.1 Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Officers. To the maximum extent permitted by the provisions of the Act, as amended from time to time (provided, however, that if an amendment to the Act in any way limits or restricts the indemnification rights permitted by law as of the date hereof, such amendment shall apply only to the extent mandated by law and only to activities of persons subject to indemnification under this Section which occur subsequent to the effective date of such amendment), the Association shall indemnify and advance expenses to any person who is or was a director or officer of the Association, or to such person's heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives, for the defense of any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, and whether formal or informal (any such action, suit or proceeding being hereinafter referred to as the "Proceeding"), to which such person was, is or is threatened to be made, a named defendant or respondent, which indemnification and advancement of expenses shall include counsel fees actually incurred as a result of the Proceeding or any appeal thereof, reasonable expenses actually incurred with respect to the Proceeding, all fines, judgments, penalties and amounts paid in settlement thereof, subject to the following conditions:

- 12.1.1 The Proceeding was instituted by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Association; and
- 12.1.2 The director or officer conducted himself or herself in good faith, and he or she reasonably believed (i) in the case of conduct in his or her official capacity with the Association, that his or her conduct was in its best interest; (ii) in all other cases, that his or her conduct was at least not opposed to the best interests of the Association; and (iii) in the case of any criminal proceeding, that he or she had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The termination of a Proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent is not, of itself, determinative that the director or officer did not meet the standard of conduct herein described.

Section 12.2 Permissive Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Association may, to the maximum extent permitted by the provisions of the Act, as amended from time to time (provided, however, that if an amendment to the Act in any way limits or restricts the indemnification rights permitted by law as of the date hereof, such amendment shall apply only to the extent mandated by law and only to activities of persons subject to indemnification under this Section which occur subsequent to the effective date of such amendment), indemnify and advance expenses in a Proceeding to any person who is or was an employee or agent of the Association, or to such person's heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives, to the same extent as set forth in Section 12.1 above, provided that the Proceeding was instituted by reason of the fact that such person is or was an employee or agent of the Association and met the standards of conduct set forth in Subsection 12.1.2 above. The Association may also indemnify and advance expenses in a Proceeding to any person who is or was an employee or agent of the Association to the extent, consistent with public policy, as may be provided by these Bylaws, by contract, or by general or specific action of the Board of Directors.

Section 12.3 Non-Exclusive Application. The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses set forth in Sections 12.1 and 12.2 above are contractual between the Association and the person being indemnified, and his or her heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives, and are not exclusive of other similar rights of indemnification or advancement of expenses to which such person may be entitled, whether by contract, by law, by a resolution of the Board of Directors, by these Bylaws, by the purchase and maintenance by the Association of insurance on behalf of a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or by an agreement with the Association providing for such indemnification, all of which means of indemnification and advancement of expenses are hereby specifically authorized.

<u>Section 12.4 Non-Limiting Application</u>. The provisions of this Article shall not limit the power of the Association to pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association in connection with such person's appearing as a witness in a Proceeding at a time when he or she has not been made a named defendant or respondent to the Proceeding.

<u>Section 12.5 Prohibited Indemnification</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, the Association shall not indemnify or advance expenses to or on behalf of any director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or such person's heirs, executors, administrators or legal representatives:

- 12.5.1 If a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to such person establishes his or her liability for any breach of the duty of loyalty to the Association, for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, or under the Act; or
- 12.5.2 In connection with a Proceeding by or in the right of the Association in which such person was adjudged liable to the Association; or
- 12.5.3 In connection with any other Proceeding charging improper personal benefit to such person, whether or not involving action in his or her official capacity, in which he or she was adjudged liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him or her.

<u>Section 12.6 Repeal or Modification Not Retroactive</u>. No repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article, either directly or by the adoption of a provision inconsistent with the provisions of this Article, shall adversely affect any right or protection, as set forth herein, existing in favor of a particular individual at the time of such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE 13

NOTICES AND WAIVER OF NOTICE

The notices provided for in these Bylaws shall be communicated in person, by telephone, electronic mail, facsimile, or by mail or private carrier. Written notice is effective at the earliest of (a) receipt, (b) five (5) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed correctly addressed and with first-class postage affixed thereon, (c) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and the receipt is signed by or on behalf of the addressee, or (d) twenty (20) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed correctly addressed, and with other than first-class, registered, or certified postage affixed. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director, officer, or committee member of the Association under the provisions of these Bylaws, or the Act, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE 14

FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Association shall end on the 31st day of December, or on such other date as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 15 AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, in whole or in part, and new Bylaws adopted, upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Board of Directors of the

Association at any annual or special meeting of the Board of Directors, except to the extent that such alteration, amendment, or repeal is inconsistent with Article 15 hereof.

ARTICLE 16

EXEMPT STATUS

The Association has been organized and will be operated exclusively for exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and, as such, will be exempt from taxation under Section 501(a) of the code. Any provision of these Bylaws or of the Articles of Incorporation which would in any manner adversely affect the Association's tax-exempt status shall be void and shall be deleted or modified as necessary to comply with all applicable federal and state requirements for the maintenance of the Association's tax-exempt status.

ARTICLE 17

DISSOLUTION

The Board of Directors may vote in its discretion to terminate and dissolve the Corporation. Upon dissolution or final liquidation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for payment of all lawful debts and liabilities of the Corporation, distribute all assets of the Corporation to one or more regularly organized and qualified charitable, educational, or scientific organizations as shall at the time qualify as exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code to be selected by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

The undersigned Secretary of the Corporation hereby certifies that:

I am the duly elected and acting Secretary of International F.O.P. Association Inc.; and

The foregoing Amended and Restated Bylaws consisting of 17 pages constitute the Bylaws of such Corporation as duly adopted by the Board of Directors on December 18, 2018, and have not been amended or modified since that date.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certificate as of this 31st day of December, 2018.

Karen E. Munro, Secretary

Haren Munro